Sec. 186.02, Wis. Stats.

Office of Credit Unions

P.O. Box 14137

Madison, WI 53708-0137 Telephone: (608) 261-9543 Fax: (608) 267-0479

dfi.wi.gov

State of Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions



Model Bylaws Form Notes

Should you decide to update to the Model Bylaws, please reference our helpful tips below. Please note, any changes to your credit union bylaws should be overseen by legal counsel to properly reflect the credit union's values and intentions.

- Please utilize the check boxes next to paragraphs. These should be used to:
 - o Indicate that the required blanks in the paragraph have been filled in
 - Indicate your choice of options; please select all choices that should be included in your bylaws
 - If the model bylaws have areas you would prefer to change that are not available to edit on the form, please attach a separate document to reflect the proposed changes
- If there is not enough space on the form, please attach a separate document with clear reference to where the changes should be placed within the model bylaws.
- Please do not change your current field of membership, unless a field of membership application has been submitted and approved

Questions or completed forms with all relevant attachments can be sent to: dfi-ocu@dfi.wisconsin.gov

State of Wisconsin **Department of Financial Institutions**



BYLAWS

	of the	
 		_ Credit Union
		, Wisconsin

ARTICLE I PURPOSES

Section I. Purposes. The purposes of this Credit Union are:

- (a) To encourage thrift among its members;
- (b) To create a source of credit at a fair and reasonable cost:
- (c) To provide an opportunity for each of its members to improve the member's respective economic and social conditions; and
- (d) To perform the functions and exercise the powers designated for credit unions under applicable law.

ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS

When used in these Bylaws, the following terms have the meaning set forth below:

Section 1. Articles. "Articles" means the articles of incorporation of the Credit Union.

Section 2. Board. "Board" or "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Credit Union and "Director" means a member of the Board.

Section 3. Bylaws. "Bylaws" means the bylaws of the Credit Union.

Section 4. Credit Union. "Credit Union" means the ______ Credit Union, unless the context otherwise requires.

Section 5. Board Officers. "Board Officers" includes the Board Chairperson, Board Vice Chairperson (whether one or more), Board Secretary, and Board Treasurer.

Section 6. Members of the Immediate Family. "Members of the immediate family" includes, but is not limited to:

- (a) The spouse, parent, children, stepparents, stepchildren, grandparents and grandchildren of each person eligible to be a member of the Credit Union under Article III, Section 1(b):
- (b) Any other relative of any person eligible to be a member of the Credit Union under Article III, Section 1(b) or of the spouse of the eligible person, if the relative resides in the same household as the person; and
- (c) Such other person as are set forth in the written policies of the board.

Section 7. National Board. "National Board" means the National Credit Union Administration Board.

Section 8. Office of Credit Unions. "Office of Credit Unions" means the Office of Credit Unions for the State of Wisconsin.

Section 9. Organization. "Organization" includes a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or any other legal entity recognized under state or federal law.

Section 10. Proceeding. "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit, arbitration or other proceeding, whether formal or informal, which involves foreign, federal, state or local law and which is brought by or in the right of the Credit Union or by any other person.

Section 11. Public Depositor. "Public depositor" has the meaning given to it in Section 34.01(4), Wis. Stats.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP

Section I. Membership Rights and Eligibility.

- (a) The rights of members of the Credit Union shall be determined and exercised in accordance with applicable law, the Articles and Bylaws of the Credit Union and policies of the Board. A member who is disruptive to credit union operations may be subject to limitations on services and access to credit union facilities.
- (b) [Attach field of membership.]

A public depositor, any employee of this Credit Union, and any member of the immediate family of any other eligible person may become a member of the Credit Union in the manner provided in these Bylaws. Any Organization or association may become a member of the Credit Union if a majority of the directors, owners, or members thereof are eligible for membership in the Credit Union. In addition, any Organization or association that has a business location within any geographical location set forth under Article III, Section 1(b) is eligible for membership in the Credit Union. Furthermore, any trust may become a member of the Credit Union if a majority of the persons who are settlor(s), trustee(s) and beneficiary(ies) are eligible for membership in the Credit Union.

Section 2. Application for Membership. Any person eligible for membership who completes an application for membership in an acceptable form and purchases at least one (1) share in the Credit Union shall be admitted to membership, unless the application is rejected by the Board or its delegate. An amount equivalent to the value of the required number of shares deposited in any account in the Credit Union may be treated as the membership share.

Section 3. Termination of Membership. A member who withdraws all of the member's shareholdings shall thereby cease to be a member of the Credit Union and shall be ineligible to hold any other form of investment in the Credit Union. Any person whose membership terminates under this section may be readmitted to membership, if eligible, at the discretion of the Board or its delegate, by purchasing at least one (1) share.

Section 4. Expulsion of Members. The Board may, if it has adopted a written policy, expel a member from the Credit Union if the member neglects or refuses to comply with Ch. 186, Wis. Stats., or these Bylaws, or for any other just cause.

Section 5. Procedures for Expulsion. The credit union shall provide notice to the member in writing of the reason for the expulsion. The notice shall include a description of the member's right to petition the Board for reconsideration of the member's expulsion, as well as the time period within which a petition must be filed. If a member petitions the Board for reconsideration in writing within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the expulsion notice, the Board shall reconsider the expulsion within ninety (90) days after the date of the expulsion notice.

Section 6. Payments Upon Expulsion or Termination. If a member is expelled by the Board or if the membership is terminated by operation of these Bylaws:

- (a) The Credit Union shall pay to the member upon expulsion or termination the funds the member has on account as funds become available and after deducting any amounts due to the Credit Union. Payments under this paragraph shall be subject to Article VIII, Section (3)(b) and (c) and any rights or limitations under applicable law.
- (b) Expulsion or termination of membership shall not relieve the member of any existing liability to the Credit Union.

Section 7. Loss of Qualifying Status. A member who ceases to qualify for membership under Section 1 of this article may retain full membership in the Credit Union at the discretion of the Board.

ARTICLE IV MEETINGS OF MEMBERS - VOTING

Section l. Voting. Each member shall have one (1) vote irrespective of the member's share total. A member may not vote by proxy. An Organization or association member shall be represented by and have its vote cast by a duly authorized representative of the entity. A trust shall be represented by the trustee. During the first twelve (12) months of the existence of the Credit Union, any adult member may vote at meetings of the members or shall be eligible to demand a special meeting. Thereafter, no person shall be allowed to vote or shall be eligible to demand a special meeting:

Option 1: until the person has been a member of the Credit Union for at least _____ months prior to the record date.

Option 2: unless the person is a member of the Credit Union on the record date.

Unless otherwise provided by the Board at its previous organizational meeting, no member who is a natural person under the age of majority shall be allowed to vote.

Section 2. Meetings. The Credit Union shall hold an annual meeting of the members before July 1 of each year at such time and place as the Board shall designate. Special meetings of the members may be called at any time by order of the Board. Special meetings shall be called by the Secretary upon the written request of ______ members.

Section 3. Notice of Meetings. At least twenty (20) days prior to the date of any annual or special meeting, the Secretary shall:

Choose One:

- Option 1: Cause written notice to be mailed to each member entitled to vote at the meeting at the address that appears on the records of this Credit Union, or, for members who have opted to receive notices electronically, by electronic mail. In the case of the annual meeting of members, said notice may be contained in the newsletter of the Credit Union.
- Option 2: Cause a Class 1 notice under Chapter 985 of the Wisconsin Statutes to be published in a newspaper of general circulation in each municipality in which the Credit Union maintains an office. Proof of publication shall be maintained by the Credit Union.
- Option 3: [Attach a method of notice which provides reasonable assurance that the members will be made aware of the date, place, time and purposes of the annual or special meeting.]

Such notice shall state the date, time and location of the meeting and such other information as the Board shall determine consistent with these Bylaws except that the notice of any special meeting of members shall state the purpose of the meeting.

Section 4. Record Date. This section shall apply only after the Credit Union has been in existence for twelve (12) months. For the purpose of determining members entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting, members entitled to demand a special meeting under Section 2 of this article or in order to make a determination of members for any other proper purpose, the Board may fix a future date, not more than seventy (70) days before the date on which the particular action requiring this determination of members is taken, as the record date. If no record date is established by the Board, the record date shall be as follows:

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (b), with respect to an annual members' meeting or any special members' meeting called by the Board or any person specifically authorized by the Board or these Bylaws to call a meeting, at the close of business on the day before the first notice is delivered to members.
- (b) With respect to any election of Directors conducted under Article V, Section 4, at the close of business on the day before the first ballot is delivered to members.
- (c) With respect to a special members' meeting demanded by the members, on the date the first member signs the demand.

(d) With respect to any other matter for which such a determination is required, as provided by law. When a determination of the members entitled to vote at any members' meeting has been made as provided in this section, the determination shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting unless the Board fixes a new record date, which it must do if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than one hundred twenty (120) days after the date fixed for the original meeting. **Section 5. Quorum**. _____ members eligible to vote at meetings of the members shall constitute a quorum at any annual or special meeting. If a quorum is not present on the date specified in the notice of meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned for at least one (1) week and a second notice shall be: Option 1: mailed to each member at the member's last-known address or otherwise delivered to each member. Option 2: published as a Class 1 notice in a newspaper of general circulation in each municipality in which the Credit Union maintains an office. Option 3: The notice shall specify the date, time, place and purpose of the adjourned meeting. Notwithstanding the remaining provisions of this section, the number of members present at the place and time specified in the notice of the adjourned meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business appropriate to the purpose of the meeting. Section 6. Actions by Members. (a) At any meeting, if the notice so indicates, a majority of the members present may direct the Board to do any of the following: 1. Consider implementing any policy proposed by the members. 2. Reconsider any decision of the Directors, officers or committees. (b) At any meeting, if the notice so indicates, the members may, by a three-fourths vote of the members present, do any of the following: 1. Remove any Director. 2. Amend these Bylaws in accordance with Article XII, Section 2. **ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS Section 1. Qualifications of Directors**. No person may be elected or appointed as Director unless that person has been a member of the Credit Union for: *Option 1: one (1) year Option 2:* _____

prior to the record date. Furthermore, no person or spouse of a person who is a paid employee of the Credit Union, other than the President, may become a Director unless the employee resigns his/her employment with the Credit Union prior to taking office.

Section 2. Number and Terms of Directors.

(a)		_ duly qualified members. [Insert an odd eeting of the members, the members shall
	Directors for o	one (1) year.
	Directors for t	wo (2) years.
	Directors for the	hree (3) years.

- (b) At each subsequent annual meeting or by alternate election method if duly authorized by the Board under Section 4 or Section 5 of this article, the members shall elect a Director to fill each vacancy on the Board, including any unexpired term occupied by a Director appointed by the Board under Section 7 of this article. Except as provided in Section 7 of this article, each Director elected by the members shall be elected to serve for a term of three (3) years.
- (c) Each Director shall hold office until the earlier of (i) his or her successor being elected or appointed and signing the oath of office or (ii) his or her death, resignation or removal. A Director may resign at any time by filing his or her resignation with the Secretary.

Section 3. Election at Annual Meeting. Unless an alternate election method set forth in these Bylaws is authorized by the Board, Directors shall be elected by the members present at the annual meeting in the following manner:

- (a) The Chairperson may appoint a nominating committee consisting of not fewer than three (3) members of the Credit Union. If appointed, the nominating committee shall nominate one (1) or more members for each vacancy on the Board, including any unexpired term occupied by a Director appointed by the Board under Section 7 of this article.
- (b) After the nominations of the nominating committee, if any, have been placed before the members at the annual meeting, the Chairperson shall call for and accept nominations from the floor. When nominations are closed, the votes shall be taken and tallied by the tellers of election, as appointed by the Chairperson, and the results shall be announced. Except as provided in paragraph (c), all elections shall be determined by plurality vote, and shall be by ballot except when the number of nominees does not exceed the number of vacancies to be filled.
- (c) If two (2) or more candidates for Director receive an equal number of votes, and resolution of the tie vote affects the election of one (1) or more Directors, the members present at the annual meeting shall either elect by a plurality vote the appropriate number of Directors from among the candidates who received the equal number of votes in the initial balloting, or shall authorize those candidates to resolve the tie vote by a drawing of lots.

Section 4. Alternate Election Method. Election of Directors may be conducted pursuant to this section if authorized by the Board at least six (6) months prior to the date of the annual meeting. If this alternate election method is duly authorized by the Board, the election of Directors shall be conducted exclusively as follows:

- (a) At least seventy-five (75) days prior to the date set for the annual meeting, the Chairperson shall appoint a nominating committee of not fewer than three (3) members of the Credit Union. The nominating committee shall nominate one (1) or more members of the Credit Union for each vacancy on the Board and for each unexpired term occupied by a Director appointed by the Board under Section 7 of this article.
- (b) The nominating committee shall provide the Chairperson with a list of nominees at least sixty (60) days prior to the date set for the annual meeting, and the nomination list shall be promptly made available to members eligible to vote at meetings of the members in the Credit Union office(s).
- (c) [Insert how the nomination list will be promptly made available to members eligible to vote. Ex: Credit Union will make the nomination list available at its main location, all branches, at www.xcreditunionwebsite.com, and upon request.]

Along with the nomination list, the following notice shall be posted in the Credit Union office(s):

NOTICE TO MEMBERS

You are h	nereby adv	ised	of your ri	ght t	ınder	Article V, Sect	ion 4	of the	e Credit
Union's	bylaws	to	submit	to	the	Chairperson	on	or	before
	[inso	ert d	ate which	h is	at lea	st forty (40)	days	prior	to the
date of t	he annua	l me	eting], a	peti	tion r	equesting you	r non	- ninatio	on as a
nominee	to the Cr	edit 1	Union's I	3oar	d of I	Directors. You	r petit	tion r	nust be
signed by	at least _			mem	bers e	eligible to vote	at me	eting	s of the
members	of the Cre	edit I	Inion.					Ū	

If the number of members nominated by the nominating committee equals the number of vacancies on the Board, then the following sentence should be added to the notice: "If no member submits a petition, the Chairperson shall take a voice vote or declare each nominee elected by acclamation at the annual meeting and there shall be no election by mail ballot."

- (d) After nominations have been received, Directors shall be elected as follows:
 - 1. If no member submits a valid petition requesting nomination and the number of members nominated by the nominating committee equals the number of vacancies on the Board, then the Chairperson shall take a voice vote or declare each nominee elected by acclamation at the annual meeting. In other cases, the Credit Union will proceed either under Section 4(d)(2) of this article (if the Credit Union is conducting its election by mail ballot) or under Section 4(d)(3) of this article (if the Credit Union is conducting its election by electronic and mail ballot).
 - 2. If the Credit Union is conducting its election by mail ballot, then at least thirty (30) days prior to the date set for the annual meeting, the Secretary shall mail or cause to be mailed a ballot to the last known address of every member of the Credit Union eligible to vote. The ballot shall contain the name and a brief biographical sketch of each nominee, along with a statement that all ballots must be actually received at

least _____ days prior to the date of the annual meeting in order to be counted as valid votes for the election of Directors at the annual meeting.

- i. Prior to the time of the annual meeting, the mail ballots shall be opened and counted by tellers of election appointed by the Chairperson, and the results shall be announced at the annual meeting. Except as provided in Section 4(d)(2)(ii) of this article, all elections shall be determined by plurality vote.
- ii. If two (2) or more candidates for Director receive an equal number of votes and resolution of the tie vote affects the election of one (1) or more Directors, the members of the Credit Union present at the annual meeting shall either elect by a plurality vote the appropriate number of Directors from among the candidates who received the equal number of votes in the initial balloting or shall authorize the candidates to resolve the tie vote by a drawing of lots.
- 3. If the Credit Union is conducting its election by electronic and mail ballot, then at least thirty (30) days prior to the date set for the annual meeting, the Secretary shall cause the following materials to be provided to every member of the Credit Union eligible to vote, and the following procedures will be followed:
 - i. For members who have consented to receive election notices electronically, the Secretary shall cause to be provided by electronic mail one "Notice of Ballot" containing the name and a brief biographical sketch of each nominee, along with specific instructions for the electronic election procedure, including how to access and use the system and the deadline for electronic voting.
 - ii. For members who have not consented to receive election notices electronically, the Secretary shall cause to be provided one mail ballot that conforms to Section 4(d)(2) of this article, along with specific instructions for the electronic election procedure, including how to access and use the system and the deadline for electronic voting. The instructions will state that members without the requisite electronic device necessary to vote on the electronic system may instead vote by submitting the enclosed mail ballot and state that all mail ballots must be received at least ______ days prior to the date of the annual meeting in order to be counted as valid votes for the election of Directors at the annual meeting.
 - iii. It is the duty of the tellers of election, as appointed by the Chairperson, to verify, or cause to be verified the name of the member of the Credit Union eligible to vote and the Credit Union account number as they are registered in the electronic voting system.
 - iv. The Board of Directors shall cause the integrity of the electronic voting system to be tested at regular intervals during the election period. In the event of malfunction of the electronic voting system, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion, order elections be held by mail ballot only, in which case, the mail ballots must conform to Section 4(d)(2) of this article and must be mailed once more to all eligible members thirty (30) days before the annual meeting, and in which case, the board may make reasonable adjustments to the voting time frames above, or postpone the annual meeting when necessary, to complete the elections before the annual meeting.

- v. Prior to the time of the annual meeting, the mail ballots shall be opened and counted, along with the electronic ballots, by tellers of election appointed by the Chairperson, and the results shall be announced at the annual meeting. Except as provided in Section 4(d)(3)(vi) of this article, all elections shall be determined by plurality vote.
- vi. If two (2) or more candidates for Director receive an equal number of votes and resolution of the tie vote affects the election of one (1) or more Directors, the members of the Credit Union present at the annual meeting shall either elect by a plurality vote the appropriate number of Directors from among the candidates who received the equal number of votes in the initial balloting or shall authorize the candidates to resolve the tie vote by a drawing of lots.

Section 5. Alternate Election Method.

Option 1: Election of	of Directors may be conducted pursuant to this section if authorized by the
Board at least	months prior to the date of the annual meeting.

Option 2: Not Elected

Section 6. Removal from Office.

- (a) The Board shall remove a Director if:
 - 1. The Director withdraws from membership in the Credit Union;

(*Set forth terms and conditions of alternate election method and attach*)

- 2. The Director causes a loss to the Credit Union because of a delinquency or a known conflict of interest;
- 3. The Director is unable to be bonded for all activities of the Credit Union;
- 4. The Director refuses to sign the oath of office or knowingly and willfully violates the oath of office; or
- 5. In the judgment of the Board, removal of the Director is in the best interest of the Credit Union.
- (b) A Director who is removed under this section shall be given notice of removal and may petition the Board of Directors to reconsider its decision.

Section 7. Vacancies. The Board shall, by a vote of a plurality of the Directors then holding office, appoint a member of the Credit Union to fill any vacancy occurring on the Board, including a vacancy created by an increase in the number of Directors, within sixty (60) days thereof. Appointments under this section shall be valid only until the first annual meeting held after the date of appointment. At the annual meeting, the members shall elect a Director to serve for the balance of the unexpired term.

Section 8. Meetings; Quorum.

(a) An organizational meeting of the Board shall be held within ______ days after each annual meeting, and thereafter the Board shall meet at least monthly, unless an Executive Committee is appointed under Section 9(b) of this article.

At all meetings of the Board, _	Directors shall constitute a quorum.
Except as otherwise provided	in these Bylaws, all matters presented to the Board shall
be decided by a majority of the	e Directors present.

- (b) Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, regular meetings of the Board shall be held at the time and place fixed by resolution of the Board. Notice of all meetings shall be given to Directors by the Secretary in such manner as the Board from time to time by resolution prescribes. A Director's attendance at any meeting of the Board constitutes his or her waiver of notice of that meeting unless the Director attends and objects at the meeting to the transaction of business because proper notice was not given. Otherwise, no waiver of notice of any meeting is valid unless made in writing.
- (d) The Board may hold any regular or special meeting or committee meeting, including a meeting of the executive committee or credit committee by telephone conference call or any other means of communication by which all participating Directors or members may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting and all communication during the meeting is immediately transmitted to each participating Director or member, and each participating Director or member is able to immediately send messages to all other participating Directors or members. If any meeting is conducted under this paragraph, all participating Directors or members shall be informed that a meeting is taking place at which official business may be transacted.

Section 9. Powers and Duties of the Board. The Board shall be responsible for the general oversight and final decision-making authority over the affairs, funds and records of the Credit Union in accordance with applicable law, the Articles and the Bylaws. Subject to limitations established in these Bylaws, the Board shall have all of the powers and duties established under applicable law of credit unions operating under Chapter 186 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

- (a) The Board's duties shall include but not be limited to the following:
 - 1. To act on all applications for membership, unless the Board delegates that responsibility.
 - 2. Establish written policies to expel members in accordance with Article III, Sections 4, 5, and 6.
 - 3. To establish rates of interest on all loans or to authorize an officer or committee of the Credit Union to establish interest rates on loans.
 - 4. To establish conditions applicable to accounts, including the dividend period.
 - 5. To establish dividend rates on all accounts or authorize an officer or committee of the Credit Union to establish rates on accounts.
 - 6. To establish rates of interest on all applicable accounts or authorize an officer or committee of the Credit Union to establish rates on accounts.

- 7. To establish standards and guidelines governing the compensation of employees in accordance with these Bylaws.
- 8. To fill vacancies on the Board.
- 9. To adopt written loan policies, including but not limited to (1) applicable loan limits, (2) collateral acceptable for secured loans and (3) the approval process where a Director, officer, credit committee member or employee provides security as a comaker, guarantor, endorser or other surety.
- 10. To at least annually set the amount of surety bond required of each officer and employee having custody of funds as provided in Article XI, Section 5.
- 11. To designate the depository(ies) to be used by the Credit Union.
- 12. To act on loan applications submitted by any loan officer or member of the credit committee, if any, unless the Board delegates that responsibility.
- 13. To appoint any committee that the Board considers necessary.
- 14. To borrow money from any source as permitted by applicable law.
- 15. To perform all other duties imposed upon the Board by these Bylaws and applicable law.
- (b) The Board may appoint an executive committee consisting of at least three (3) Directors. If appointed, the executive committee shall meet as often as necessary and the Board shall meet at least quarterly. The Board may delegate all or any part of its powers to the executive committee, subject to any conditions or limitations the Board may choose to impose. The executive committee shall not have the authority to alter, rescind, or modify any action previously taken by the Board, without the express consent of the Board.
- (c) The Board may by majority vote remove any Board Officer or any committee member.
- (d) The Board may delegate authority to approve or reject applications for membership. The person with membership approval authority shall comply with applicable law and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws. Any person whose application for membership is denied may appeal the denial in writing to the Board.
- **Section 10. Compensation**. Except as otherwise authorized by applicable law, no Director may receive any compensation from this Credit Union other than reasonable health, accident or similar insurance. Nothing in this section prohibits reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred as a result of his or her services as a Director or payment of compensation to Board Officers or credit committee members in accordance with Article VI, Section 9.
- **Section 11. Equivalent Titles**. Any person designated as "Chairperson" or as "Vice Chairperson" may use another equivalent title such as, in the case of the Chairperson, "Chairman," "Chairwoman," "Chair" or other such appropriate title.
- **Section 12. Action Without a Meeting.** Any action required or permitted by the Bylaws, or any provision of Ch. 186 to be taken by the Board at a Board meeting, may be taken without a meeting if one or more written consents, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all

of the Directors entitled to vote on the subject matter of the action and retained in the Credit Union's records. Action taken pursuant to written consent shall be effective when the last Director signs the consent or upon such other effective date as is specified in the consent.

ARTICLE VI BOARD OFFICERS - MANAGEMENT STAFF

Section 1. Board Officers.

- (a) Any two Board Officer positions may be held by the same person except the offices of Chairperson and Vice Chairperson and the offices of Chairperson and Secretary. The Board Officers shall be elected at the organizational meeting of the Board from among the Directors then holding office. Any Board Officer may be elected to succeed himself or herself. A Board Officer shall hold office until the earlier of (i) the election of a successor at the organizational meeting of the Board following the next annual meeting of the members, or (ii) his or her death, resignation or removal.
- (b) The Board shall appoint a President who may or may not be a Director of the Credit Union. The President shall serve at the pleasure of the Board.
- **Section 2. Vacancies**. Whenever any vacancy occurs in any of the elected Board Officer positions, the Board shall promptly fill such vacancy from among the Directors then holding office. Any person appointed to fill such a vacancy under this section shall serve until the earlier of (i) election of a successor at the organizational meeting of the Board following the next annual meeting of the members, or (ii) his or her death, resignation or removal.
- **Section 3.** Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson shall preside over all meetings of the members and all meetings of the Board. The Chairperson shall also perform such other duties as the Chairperson may be directed to perform by resolution of the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.
- **Section 4. Vice Chairperson of the Board**. The Vice Chairperson shall, in the absence or disability of the Chairperson or in case of a vacancy in the office of the Chairperson, until such time as the Board shall fill the position of Chairperson pursuant to Article VI, Section 2, perform the duties of the Chairperson and such other duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.
- **Section 5. Secretary**. The Secretary shall prepare and maintain, or cause to be prepared and maintained, in a timely manner full and correct records of all meetings of the members and the Board. The Secretary shall give or cause to be given in the manner prescribed by these Bylaws proper notice of all meetings of the members and of the Board, and shall perform such other duties as the Secretary may be directed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.
- **Section 6. Treasurer**. The Treasurer shall prepare and provide, or cause to be prepared and provided, appropriate reports to the members of the Credit Union. The Treasurer shall have authority to sign all notes of this Credit Union, and all checks, drafts and other orders for disbursement of the Credit Union's funds. The Board may also designate other persons to exercise the power to sign notes, checks, drafts and other orders. The Treasurer shall also perform any other duties as directed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.

Section 7. President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Credit Union and shall be in active charge of managing the Credit Union's day-to-day operations under the control and direction of the Board. Subject to such limitations and controls as may be imposed by the Board, and subject to delegation by the Board of any of the following responsibilities to other persons, the President shall:

- (a) Have custody of all funds, securities, valuable papers and other assets of the Credit Union.
- (b) Have authority to sign all notes of this Credit Union, and all checks, drafts and other orders for disbursement of the Credit Union's funds.
- (c) Provide and maintain full and complete records of all assets and liabilities of this Credit Union.
- (d) Prepare and submit monthly to the Board a complete financial statement showing the condition of the Credit Union as of the end of the month for which the statement is made, including a listing of delinquent loans categorized according to the period of delinquency. Within thirty (30) days after the close of each year, the President shall post the most recent annual statement in a conspicuous place in the office(s) of the Credit Union.
- (e) Prepare and forward to the Office of Credit Unions such financial and other reports as that office may require, maintain all books and records of the Credit Union in an accounting manner acceptable to the Office of Credit Unions, and return examination reports of the Credit Union to the Office of Credit Unions immediately upon request.
- (f) Except as provided in Article VIII, Section 6, cause funds deposited in the Credit Union to be deposited within a reasonable period of time in one or more depositories designated by the Board.
- (g) Perform such other duties as directed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.

Section 8. Management Staff & Officers. The President may appoint one or more Vice Presidents or other officers to assist him or her in the discharge of his or her duties. The President or his or her delegates may hire and discharge the employees of the Credit Union. Those officers appointed by the President shall have the authority to represent or bind the Credit Union as delegated by the President.

- (a) If appointed, the Vice President designated by the Board shall, in the absence or disability of the President or in case of a vacancy in the office of President, perform the duties of the President and such other duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board not inconsistent with applicable law and these Bylaws.
- (b) Each officer shall be responsible for performing the duties assigned to his or her office by the President, applicable law and these Bylaws.

Section 9. Compensation. The Board may authorize compensation for the Board Officers and credit committee members, if any. The compensation of all employees shall be established by the President, consistent with standards and limitations established by the Board.

ARTICLE VII MEMBER SHARES

Section 1. Par Value of Member Shares. The par value of a member share shall be \$_____. No person who validly purchased a member share at a lower par value shall be required to pay in additional funds on the member's share account as long as the person's membership remains in effect.

Section 2. Shares Issued to Minors or Held in Trust.

- (a) Shares may be issued in the name of a minor, and may be withdrawn by the minor or by the minor's guardian in accordance with applicable law, and in either case, payments on such withdrawals shall be valid.
- (b) If shares are to be held in trust for a specific beneficiary, the account shall be held in the name of the trustee for the beneficiary.

Section 3. Joint Accounts. The Credit Union may issue accounts in joint tenancy. The person first named on any such joint account shall be a member of the Credit Union. A nonmember named in the joint account shall not thereby acquire the right to vote, obtain loans or hold office in the Credit Union.

ARTICLE VIII ACCOUNTS, WITHDRAWALS AND TRANSFER

Section 1. Accounts. The Credit Union may offer to members any form of accounts approved by the Board under applicable law.

Section 2. Transfer of Accounts. No member or employee of this Credit Union may, as an individual, discount or directly or indirectly purchase any shares or accounts from any other member.

Section 3. Withdrawals.

- (a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this section, money paid in on shares or into any accounts may be withdrawn as provided in these Bylaws on any day on which the office(s) of the credit union is open for the transaction of business.
- (b) The Board shall have the right, at any time, to require members and other accountholders to give thirty (30) days' prior written notice of intention to withdraw the whole or any part of the amount so paid in by them.
- (c) Credit Union may restrict, to the extent permitted or required by applicable law, the withdrawal of funds.

Section 4. Fees. The Board may establish appropriate fees for services provided to members, subject to limitations imposed by applicable law, if any.

Section 5. Statement of Account.

- (a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c), the Credit Union shall provide each member at least semiannually a statement or other record of the member's accounts in which shall be entered all moneys paid by the member to the Credit Union and all moneys received by the member from the Credit Union. The statement of account shall be the official receipt of the member.
- (b) Unless applicable law would require otherwise, the Credit Union shall not be required to provide a semiannual statement of account to any member who has neither deposited funds into the member's accounts nor withdrawn funds from the member's accounts during the period to which the semiannual statement applies. However, the Credit Union shall provide each member with a statement of the member's accounts at least annually, even if no transaction has occurred in the accounts during the twelve (12) months preceding the statement.
- (c) To the extent the Credit Union offers passbook savings accounts (as defined by the rules of the Office of Credit Unions) and to the extent applicable law would not provide to the contrary, said passbook shall be the official receipt of the member and shall be retained by the member at all times except when presented for payment, withdrawal or entry of dividends or interest.

Section 6. Automatic Deposit Agreement. The Board may enter into one (1) or more agreements with depository institutions, including corporate central credit unions, under which the depository institution is authorized to remove mail from a lock box designated by the Board, to separate checks and drafts payable to the order of the Credit Union from the remainder of correspondence with the Credit Union, to deposit such checks in the account of the Credit Union at the depository institution, and to forward the remainder of the correspondence to the Credit Union.

Section 7. Share Drafts. With prior approval of the Office of Credit Unions, the Board may permit the credit union's members to use share drafts. Member share draft accounts shall be segregated in accounts separate from other forms of members' savings. The Board may establish special rules, regulations and other conditions applicable to member share draft accounts including the delivery of statements.

ARTICLE IX CREDIT COMMITTEE - LOAN OFFICERS

Section 1. Appointment of Credit Committee; Loan Officers.

- (a) At each organizational meeting of the Board, and except as otherwise provided in paragraph (b), the Board shall appoint the credit committee from among the members of the Credit Union. Each member of the credit committee shall be appointed to serve until the earlier of (i) appointment of a successor at the organizational meeting of the Board following the next annual meeting of the members, or (ii) his or her death, resignation or removal.
- (b) In addition to or in the alternative to appointment of a credit committee under paragraph (a), the President may appoint one or more employees as loan officers. No loan officer may serve as a credit committee member.

Section 2. Meetings and Records. The credit committee and loan officers shall maintain a record of all actions taken on loan applications. All records of the credit committee and loan officers shall be prepared on a timely basis.

Section 3. Compensation. Members of the credit committee and loan officers shall receive such compensation as is authorized by the President, subject to standards and guidelines established by the Board.

ARTICLE X LOANS -- DUTIES OF CREDIT COMMITTEE AND LOAN OFFICERS

Section 1. Loan Policies; Applications.

- (a) All loans made by the Credit Union shall be made in accordance with applicable law, these Bylaws and written loan policies adopted by the Board.
- (b) Subject to the rules established by the Office of Credit Unions, the Credit Union may participate with other lenders in a loan, provided the Credit Union acting alone could make the type of loan contemplated.
- (c) Applications for loans shall be documented and acknowledged by the member, and shall state the security or collateral offered, if any, and such other information as may be required by the loan policies.

Section 2. Duties of Credit Committee; Loan Officers.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided herein, all loans made by the Credit Union and all of the terms of such loans shall be approved by the credit committee, a loan officer or the Board. The Board or its designee shall act on all loan applications of credit committee members and loan officers. Any loan applicant may appeal in writing the decision of the credit committee or a loan officer to the President and may appeal in writing the President's decision to the Board. The President shall have ______ days after receipt of the written appeal to affirm, reverse or modify the decision. The Board shall have ______ days after receipt of the written appeal to affirm, reverse or modify the decision.
- (b) The credit committee, loan officer or Board shall examine the financial condition of each loan applicant to ascertain the ability of the applicant to pay fully and promptly their obligations. An endorser, co-maker, guarantor or other surety shall provide the credit committee, loan officer or Board with evidence of his or her ability to repay the obligation of the member.

Section 3. Security for Loans. Within the limits of written loan policies established by the Board, the credit committee and loan officers shall determine the security required for each loan. The security furnished shall be consistent with applicable law and sound lending practices.

Section 4. Line of Credit. The credit committee or a loan officer may approve in advance, upon its own motion or upon application of a member, an extension of credit in accordance with written loan policies, and loans may be granted within the limits of the extension of credit. Any such extension of credit shall be reviewed in accordance with applicable law and written policies adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE XI FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Section 1. Dividends. The Board shall establish the dividend period and the rate and terms of payment of dividends in accordance with applicable law. The rate and terms of payment may be established and guaranteed in advance by the Board. The Board may classify share accounts and may declare dividends at variable rates for each type of account.

Section 2. Reserves. The Credit Union shall establish and maintain reserves in the manner and in at least the amounts required by applicable law. The Board may also establish other reserves. The Board shall give priority to reserve payments over the payment of dividends.

Section 3. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Credit Union shall end on December 31 of each year.

Section 4. Auditor.

- (a) The Board shall hire a licensed public accountant or other qualified person or appoint a committee to annually audit the records, accounts and affairs of the Credit Union. Upon completion of each audit, the auditor shall make a written report of the auditor's activities, findings and recommendations to the Board, which report shall be retained in the records of the Credit Union.
- (b) The auditor shall verify or cause to be verified, under controlled conditions, all passbooks and accounts with the records of the Credit Union in the manner required by the National Board.

Section 5. Bonds. The Board shall at least annually review the fidelity bond and general insurance coverage in force in order to ascertain its adequacy in relation to risk exposure and to the minimum requirements fixed from time to time by the National Board and applicable law.

ARTICLE XII AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

Section 1. Amendment by Board. These Bylaws may be amended, altered or repealed in any manner not inconsistent with applicable law by a majority vote of the Board at any duly convened meeting of the Board.

Section 2. Amendment by Members. These Bylaws may be amended by a three-fourths (3/4) majority vote of the members present at any annual or special meeting of the members, if all notice and other requirements applicable to amendment of these Bylaws are satisfied.

Section 3. Approval. No amendment, alteration, or repeal of these Bylaws shall become effective until filed with and approved by the Office of Credit Unions.

ARTICLE XIII GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1. Confidentiality; Oath.

- (a) Directors, officers, members of committees and employees of the Credit Union shall hold in confidence all records and accounts of this Credit Union as well as the financial affairs of each member, except where state or federal law, security requirements, or sound lending practices permit disclosure.
- (b) All Directors, officers, committee members and employees shall take an oath of office in the form prescribed by law and each oath shall be filed with the other records of the Credit Union.
- (c) If an individual refuses to sign the oath of office or knowingly and willfully violates the oath of office, the Board shall remove that individual as a Director, officer, or committee member or shall direct that the individual be terminated as an employee.

Section 2. Conflict of Interest. No Director, officer, committee member, agent or employee of this Credit Union shall in any manner, directly or indirectly, participate in the deliberation upon or the determination of any question affecting his or her pecuniary or personal interest or the pecuniary interest of any Organization or association in which the person is directly or indirectly interested. In the event of disqualification of any Director or member of the credit committee respecting any matter presented to the Board or credit committee for deliberation or determination, such Director or committee member shall withdraw from the deliberation or determination. If a Director or credit committee member withdraws from any deliberation or determination, the remaining qualified Directors or credit committee members present at the meeting may exercise all powers of the Board or credit committee, provided the number of Directors or credit committee members present, including the disqualified Directors or members, constitutes a quorum.

Section 3. Conduct of Meetings. All meetings of the Board and all annual and special meetings of members shall be conducted in accordance with rules of order as adopted by the Board when not inconsistent with these Bylaws. To the extent the Board has not adopted such rules of order, the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order will apply.

ARTICLE XIV INDEMNIFICATION

Choose One:

Option 1. Section 1. Indemnification. Unless the Articles provide to the contrary, the Credit Union shall, to the fullest extent authorized by Chapter 186 of the Wisconsin Statutes, indemnify and pay or reimburse the reasonable expenses of any person who was or is a party or threatened to be made a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Director, officer or employee of the Credit Union or volunteers services to the Credit Union; or is or was serving at the request of the Credit Union as a member of any committee or as a Director or officer of any other corporation or enterprise. Such right of indemnification shall inure to the benefit of the estate or personal representative of such a person.

Option 2. Section 1. Indemnification. The Credit Union shall, to the fullest extent authorized by Chapter 186 of the Wisconsin Statutes, indemnify and pay or reimburse the reasonable expenses of any person who was or is a party or threatened to be made a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Director or officer of the Credit Union. Such right of indemnification shall inure to the benefit of the estate or personal representative of such a person.

Section 2. Supplementary Benefits. In addition to the indemnification rights provided in Section 1 of this article, the Credit Union may, but shall not be required to, provide the following benefits:

- (a) Insurance on behalf of one or more of such persons;
- (b) Individual or group indemnification agreements with one or more of such persons; and
- (c) Advances for related expenses of any such person.